#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

VANNESSA VAN VORGUE,

SUPREME COURT NO. SC08-2255

Petitioner/Appellee,

VS.

MARA RANKIN,

Respondent/Appellant,

APPELLATE CASE NO. 3D 07-378

LOCAL CASE NO. 04-17520 CA 10

#### PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

On Review from the District Court of Appeal, Third District State of Florida

Respectfully submitted,

ALBERT D. REY, ESQUIRE Fla. Bar No. 0885142 For: ALBERT D. REY, P.A. Attorney for Vannessa Van Vorgue 7240 N.W. 12th Street Miami, Florida 33126 (305) 597-0440

and

Raymond Carrero, Esquire Raymond Carrero, P.A. 7240 N.W. 12th Street Miami, Florida 33126

#### Page i

###

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Petitioner and the Respondent enjoyed a confidential, intimate, personal and professional relationship for over 23 years. (AP 1 Pages 70, 73-74.) Petitioner and Respondent engaged in several business transactions and ventures together and the Petitioner relied heavily upon (and often deferred to) Respondent in making financial and tax-related decisions. (AP 1 Pages 74-76, 173, 181, AP 2 Page 7 ¶ 47 and VAP 3.) Their mutual accountant was often employed by Respondent to assist with many of their business dealings (including without limitations the creation of business entities, administration of payroll, and the transfer of real and personal property). (VAP 31 and VAP 228.)

In furtherance of the partnership's primary business, in 1993 Petitioner incorporated Van Vorgue Enterprises, Inc. (hereinafter "VVE" or "Corporation"). (VAP 67.) At the time VVE was formed, Respondent was under a non-compete covenant with her prior employer and was unable to seek business contracts concerning media, advertising, Radio and/or Television. (AP 5 ¶ 8 and VAP 13.) Petitioner, initially was the sole owner of VVE. At the inception of VVE, Petitioner was also the president, vice president, treasurer, secretary and chief executive officer and director of VVE. (VAP 29.) Beginning in about 1993, all of the assets of Petitioner and Respondent (excluding chattels of a personal nature which were of insignificant monetary value) were jointly owned, Petitioner owning 50% and Respondent owning 50%. (VAP 273.) Upon the non-compete restrictions expiring, on or about January 1995, the ownership of VVE was transferred to Petitioner and Respondent in equal shares (50%/50%) as joint tenants with rights of survivorship. (VAP 29 and AP 3 C.)

From at least 1995 forward until shortly before this action was filed, VVE paid by separate checks payable to Respondent and Petitioner, salary and profits of approximately equal amounts to each. (AP 2 Page 4 ¶ 24.) These checks from VVE were deposited into the joint bank account of the parties (hereinafter "Joint Bank Account"). (VAP 26.)

On or about January 1997, Petitioner and Respondent purchased a property

(hereinafter "Property") located at 2335 Meridian Avenue, Miami Beach, Florida.

The Property was purchased by Petitioner and Respondent as Joint Tenants with

Rights of Surviorship. (AP 2, Page 4 ¶¶ 26 and 27.)

The deposits made on the contract for the purchase of the Property were made

from the Joint Bank Account, via Check Nos. 1040 and 1048, one signed by

Petitioner and one signed by Respondent. (VAP 113.) The Cash to Close on the

purchase of the Property came from the Joint Bank Account via Check 1074.

(VAP 119.) The Mortgage given to finance the purchase of the Property was from

both Petitioner and Respondent. (VAP 65-A-65-H.) Additionally, the mortgage

payments were made from the joint checking account. See for example, (VAP 186-

217.)

In April 2004, Respondent was required to temporarily move to California in

order to service a new client, in the Media / Advertising / Radio and/or Television

broadcasting market. (AP 2 Page 5 ¶ 31.)

On or about June 29, 2004, Respondent and Petitioner entered into a

purchase and sale agreement, to sell the Property to Renee Sebastian for the sum of

\$1,050,000.00. (AP 2 B.)

Shortly after arriving in Miami, on or about July 17, 2004, Respondent

advised the Petitioner that she would need to remain in California for a longer

period of time than they previously expected. (AP 2 Page 5  $\P$  37.) Respondent also advised the Petitioner that she was confused and needed to spend some time alone and apart from the Petitioner. (AP 2 Page 5  $\P$  37.) Petitioner was surprised and disbelieving of the statement made by Respondent; as Petitioner and respondent had shared a personal, intimate, confidential and trusting relationship, of over 23 years. (AP 2 Page 6  $\P$  38, and AP 1 Pages 70, 73-74.)

Premised on facilitating the closing of the purchase and sale agreement and the simplification of matters concerning Petitioner's car (the title to which was then held by their jointly-owned corporation), on July 21, 2004, Respondent then asked Petitioner to accompany her to their mutual accountant's office, Juan A. Figueroa, P.A., (hereinafter "Accountant"). (AP 2 Page 6 ¶ 40.) The Petitioner was lured to the office of their Accountant under the pretext that the documents being executed were for the transfer of their respective cars. (AP 2 Page 6 ¶ 41.) The Respondent, Petitioner, Accountant represented and their corporation ("Corporation"). (VAP 31 and VAP 228.) (AP 2 Page 6 ¶ 40.) When Petitioner noticed that one of the documents contained the Property address, Respondent advised Petitioner that the document was being prepared in anticipation of the closing of the Property's sale and in order to facilitate the closing and for tax planning purposes. (VAP 271 ¶ 2.)

Page 6

That same day (July 21, 2004) at the Accountant's office, Petitioner executed several un-witnessed document(s), which may include one or more Quit Claim Deeds (one of which, purports to convey the Property to Respondent) and a Certificate No. 2 for 1,000 Shares of stock (hereinafter "Corporate Stock Certificate") in the Corporation, which purported to transfer her interest in the Corporation to Respondent. (AP 2 Page 7 ¶ 50 and 51.) On the same day that these instruments were executed, Petitioner continued to believe that the Respondent and Petitioner continued to maintain a confidential and trusting relationship. (VAP 272 ¶ 4.) The Petitioner never agreed to covey any property or waive any right to any asset or property owned by Petitioner or in which Petitioner had an interest, excepting only the purchase and sale agreement concerning the sale of the Property to Renee Sebastian for the approximate sum of \$1,050,000.00. (AP 2 Page 7 ¶ 46; and VAP 273 ¶ 13.) Had Petitioner been told on July 21, 2004 that the purpose for her signing the Quit Claim Deed was to relinquish all of Petitioner's rights, interests and ownership in the Property to Respondent, Petitioner would have never signed the Quit Claim Deed. (VAP 273 ¶ 14.)

The Petitioner's execution of the Instruments occurred under the undue stress caused by the announcement a few days before by Respondent that Respondent was "confused and needed to spend some time alone and apart", and under indications, both express and implied, made by Respondent that if the

Petitioner continued to support the partnership, and did not confront or question

Respondent on these types of legal and accounting issues which Respondent

usually handled for the partnership, that the partnership may be preserved. (AP 2

Page 7 ¶ 47.)

Petitioner denies receiving any consideration for her execution of the

instruments in question, and there is no evidence whatsoever to show that the

Respondent paid the Petitioner any consideration for such execution, much less

any evidence that she paid Petitioner with Respondent's own separate funds.

On or about early August 2004, based upon Respondent's behavior and

desire to exclude Petitioner from knowledge of the ongoing events with regard to

the sale of the Property, the Petitioner came to the conclusion that the "temporary

separation" between the Petitioner and Respondent was in fact an attempt by

Respondent to dissolve the partnership.

In order to protect her interests in the Property and the other partnership

assets, and in order to preserve the status quo between the parties, the Petitioner

filed this action, initially as a simple complaint seeking to cancel the Instruments

executed in mid July 2004 and recorded a Lis Pendens on the Property. (AP 2

Page 10 ¶¶ 73-74.)<sup>1</sup>

-

<sup>1</sup> The First Amended Complaint now contains ten interrelated counts, arising from the same, or a related series, of transactions and occurrences. (AP 2.) <u>All of the counts remain pending</u> as none of them have been disposed of yet.

Upon discovering the true nature and legal effect of the un-witnessed document(s), this lawsuit ensued. Petitioner filed a simple complaint and recorded a Lis Pendens on the Property. It was later uncovered (through discovery) that Respondent, in conjunction with the Accountant, had conspired to vest Respondent with sole possession and control of the partnership assets. For example, the June, 2004 total balance for the five joint bank accounts was \$87,456.78. By July 15, 2004, Respondent had transferred significant amounts of the funds from the five joint bank accounts, out of the joint accounts, leaving a total remaining balance of only \$15,439.47 in one account. (VAP 130-181.) This action was an unknown

On or about August 20, 2004, Respondent and Petitioner entered into an escrow agreement, in order to facilitate the sale of the Property, and to preserve the status quo between the parties until resolution of the case. (AP 2 D.) Subsequent to the execution of the escrow agreement, the closing for the Property occurred and 100% of the net proceeds from the sale of Property amounted to \$753,332.12, which sum is being held in escrow. (AP 2 Pages 10-11 ¶ 75.)

precursor to the events that occurred in the Accountant's office.

Because the parties were unable to agree as to the issue of how the funds would be placed into an interest bearing account, a matter not addressed directly by the Escrow Agreement, the Respondent filed a motion and the Court entered an Order on December 1, 2004 granting Respondent's request that the funds be

transferred to an interest-bearing account pending resolution of the suit. (AP 5 at

Exhibit B.) The funds remain and are currently being held in said interest-bearing

account, until the resolution of the parties claims, pursuant the parties' escrow

Agreement and the lower Court's December 1, 2004-Order. (An order that was

prepared/drafted by Respondent's current counsel.) (AP 5 at Exhibits A and B.)

It is clear from the conduct of the parties that the Agreement between the

parties and intent of the escrow agreement, was to hold the funds in Escrow until

this lawsuit was concluded to finality. To wit:

(a) the parties entered into the escrow agreement (AP 2 D.);

(b) when no prompt resolution was reached as to final distribution of the sale

proceeds, the Respondent moved the lower court for an order transferring

the funds to an interest bearing account (AP 5 at Exhibit B.) (Clearly

there would have been no reason or benefit to placing the funds in an

interest bearing escrow account unless the funds were likely to be held

for a prolonged period.);

(c) the lower court granted the motion and entered the order that Respondent

drafted, which mandates that the funds be held in escrow "pending the

resolution of the claims between the parties" (AP 5 at Exhibit B.);

(d) Respondent did not appeal the order transferring the funds to an interest

bearing account; (VAP 274-280)

Page 10

(e) For the ensuing two years and until the eve of trial, Respondent

conducted the litigation in a manner consistent with the Agreement that

the funds would be held in escrow pending resolution of the claims

between the parties. (VAP 275-280)

Notwithstanding the clear intent of the parties and the conduct of the parties

consistent with the Agreement, two years after the entry of the December 1, 2004-

order and just before trial was scheduled, Respondent filed a Motion to Release

Escrow. The trial court denied the Motion to Release Escrow, and Respondent

appealed the court's order based upon Fla. R. App. Pro. 9.130(a)(3)(C)(ii),

generally allowing review of non-final orders that determine the right to immediate

possession of property (i.e. the funds). However, for the reasons stated herein, the

Third District Court erred in accepting jurisdiction of the appeal and mandating

disbursal of 50% of the funds to Respondent, contrary to the Agreement between

them.

In its Opinion, the Third District Court of Appeals held that the parties

"entered into an escrow agreement requiring the proceeds from the sale to remain

in escrow until the claims of the suit were resolved." Rankin [Supra at 463.]

However, despite this holding, the district court incorrectly held that retention of

100% of the escrowed money until the parties resolve the other claims amounted to

an improper injunction. Rankin [Supra at 464.] Through its Opinion, the Third

District applied injunctive standards to and rewrote the private contract of the parties. It is clear on the face of the Opinion that the application of injunctive standards to a private contract or stipulation is in stark contrast to the prevailing case law in this state that the clear expression of the meaning of a contract may not be modified by court interpretation. To that end, the Constitution provides strict protections for the right to contract. If the lower Opinion stands, all future escrow agreements in Florida would then be subject to court interpretation and the constitutionally protected freedom to contract would be illusory.

#### STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

"Conflict between decisions must be express and direct, i.e., it must appear within the four corners of the majority decision." *Reaves v. State of Florida, 485 So.2d 829 (Fla. 1986)*. However, "[i]t is not necessary that a district court explicitly identify conflicting district court or supreme court decisions in its opinion in order to create an 'express' conflict under section 3(b)(3)." *Ford Motor Company v. Kikis, 401 So.2d 1341 (Fla. 1981)*.

In the instant case, the Third District Court of Appeal held that the parties "entered into an escrow agreement requiring the proceeds from the sale to remain in escrow until the claims of the suit were resolved." *Rankin [Supra.]* Therefore, there is no dispute that: (1) there was an Agreement, (2) the Agreement is binding; and (3) the terms of the Agreement are that the Funds are to be held in escrow

pending resolution of the parties' claims. There is also no dispute that Respondent was not ordered to surrender the funds to Escrow; rather, the funds were deposited in escrow voluntarily by agreement between the parties. Nevertheless, the district court incorrectly opined that "[t]o order retention of 100% of the escrowed money until the parties resolve the other claims would be, essentially, an improper injunction." This constitutes the pronouncement of a new rule of law that: a court must apply injunctive standards to and rewrite a voluntary, private contract when said contract is an agreement to hold funds in escrow pending resolution of the

parties' claims.

The Third District Court's Opinion expressly and directly conflicts with the *Pafford v. Standard Life Ins. Co., 52 So.2d 910 (Fla. 1951)* decision, that: "When the meaning of a contract is well settled the court is not at liberty to modify it". By violating the Agreement of the parties, the Third District Court's Opinion also expressly and directly conflicts with the *State ex rel. Dos Amigos v. Lehman, 131 So. 533 (Fla. 1931)* decision: "To both the citizen and his government the right to contract is the most valuable right known to the law. The Constitution guarantees its inviolability" and the *Slizyk (Supra)* decision: "[a] court of equity will not assist in extricating a party from his or her own wrongful and fraudulent conduct".

By ordering that 50% of the Funds be released to Respondent, the Opinion of the Third District Court of Appeals clearly, directly and expressly rewrites the

clear terms of the Agreement which required 100% of the Funds to remain in

escrow. The Opinion of the Third District Court of Appeals also expressly and

directly violates Petitioner's right to contract found in both the Florida Constitution

and the United States Constitution.

In addition to the foregoing, the Third District Court of Appeal should never

have accepted jurisdiction of the lower appeal. Respondent's premise that her

appeal was brought pursuant to Fla. R. App. Pro. 9.130(a)(3)(C)(ii), is misguided

as the case law cited herein shows that this rule applies when a party is required to

make an affirmative act of surrendering property, not (as here) where the property

is surrendered voluntarily. Accordingly, this Court should reverse the Opinion of

the Third District Court on the merits. Alternatively, this Court should hold that

the Third District Court improperly granted jurisdiction and should quash the Third

District Court's Opinion, and remand with instruction to dismiss the appeal for

lack of jurisdiction.

**SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT** 

The trial court was correct in denying Rankin's motion to release escrow

funds and the Third District Court of Appeals erred in reversing the trial court's

order. Pursuant to Florida law, courts cannot modify the terms of a private

contract. The clear intent of the Agreement is to hold the proceeds of the sale of

Supreme Court Case No.: SC08-2255

Page 14

the Property pending resolution of the parties' claims. Thus, given this intent, the

trial court correctly denied Rankin's motion to release escrow funds.

However, the Third District Court of Appeals, despite finding that the

Agreement between the parties required all of the proceeds to be held in escrow

until the claims between the parties were resolved, believed that the denial of the

motion to release escrow constituted an injunction, and reversed the trial court.

This reliance on the injunctive standards applied by the Third District in its

Opinion is reversible error, as injunctive standards cannot be applied to private

agreements unless there is fraud, duress or undue influence (none of which are

alleged here). In any case, the Third District Court of Appeals improperly applied

injunctive standards where neither party was compelled to do the affirmative act of

depositing money in escrow. Rather, the parties in this case voluntarily entered

into the Agreement on their own without recommendation or influence from the

trial court.

The United States Constitution and the Florida Constitution guaranty the

inviolability of the right to contact. These tenets of the law hold true in part

because there must be certainty with regard to contracts in order for them to be

effectual. To allow courts to modify our private contracts would be to undermine

this constitutional right and would render all contracts nothing more than ink on

paper; a mere suggestion of behavior with no requirements, obligations or

Supreme Court Case No.: SC08-2255

Page 15

consequences for violation of their terms. This right is so fundamental to

American jurisprudence that the framers saw fit to enumerate the right of

individuals to freely enter into contracts in our Constitutions.

Given the constitutional protections outlined herein, it is axiomatic that

contracts entered into freely, voluntarily, without duress and undue influence (so

long as they are not for an illegal purpose and they do not violate public policy)

cannot be amended without agreement of the parties. The law does not allow the

courts to assist one in extricating herself from a contract when she later realizes

that the contract perhaps wasn't the best bargain. By allowing the Third District

Court of Appeals' Opinion to stand, Florida courts will now have authority to re-

write agreements that one party regrets entering into. In short, the Opinion of the

Third District Court of Appeals violates public policy against allowing courts to re-

write private contracts.

The Third District Court of Appeals should have never even granted

jurisdiction to hear the lower appeal as the basis of the appeal does not qualify as a

Fla. R. App. Pro. 9.130(a)(3)(C)(ii) appeal. In order for an appellate court to have

jurisdiction, on the basis that the order determined the right to immediate

possession of property, the Respondent must show that the trial court ordered the

deposit of funds in escrow. Such is not the case here where both parties deposited

the Funds in escrow by agreement. Moreover, Respondent did not plead rescission

or modification of the Agreement. In Florida, a court cannot grant relief on a claim that was never pled. In any case, the rule allowing the appeal of non-final orders should be narrowly and strictly construed as the very purpose of the rule is to restrict the number of appealable non-final orders. The reason for this is that appellate review of non-final judgments serves to waste court resources and delays final judgment needlessly.

#### **ARGUMENTS**

#### **ARGUMENT I**

THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN REVERSING THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER DENYING RANKIN'S MOTION TO RELEASE ESCROW FUNDS, FOR THE FOLLOWING REASONS:

### A. COURTS CANNOT MODIFY THE TERMS OF A PRIVATE CONTRACT

B. BOTH THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION GUARANTY THE INVIOLABILITY OF THE RIGHT TO CONTACT

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