IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC08-2255 3d DCA Case No. 3D07-378

VANNESSA VAN VORGUE,	
Petitioner,	
vs.	
MARA RANKIN,	
Respondent.	/

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

On Discretionary Review From The District Court Of Appeal, Third District

Alan Rosenthal Natalie J. Carlos Carlton Fields, P.A. Suite 4000 100 S.E. Second Street Miami, Florida 33131 Telephone: (305) 530-0050 Facsimile: (305) 530-0055

Attorneys for Respondent, Mara Rankin

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Although this Court accepted conflict jurisdiction, such jurisdiction was improvidently granted. Van Vorgue has never shown, in any filing with this Court or the Third District, how the purportedly conflicting cases are factually similar to this case, much less have "substantially the same controlling facts," a requirement to establish a genuine conflict. Nowhere in the Third District's decision is there any mention, even by implication, that the Third District is rejecting any of the general rules of law pronounced in those cases. Clearly, Van Vorgue merely disagrees with the Third District's conclusion that the Escrow Agreement's language does not prevent Rankin from seeking the return of her rightful, undisputed share of the escrowed funds. Her attempt to obtain additional *de novo* review of that decision in this Court is improper.

For more than 5 years, following the break-up of their 23-year personal relationship, the parties have been litigating over their interests in certain property. Van Vorgue's basis for alleged conflict jurisdiction is that the Third District "rewrote" the Escrow Agreement by ordering disbursement to Rankin of her undisputed 50% share of escrowed funds because the "contract" states that the funds are to be held "until the resolution of the parties' claims." Nowhere in the Escrow Agreement is that language found. The language is taken from the Order Transferring Funds that merely transferred the funds to an interest-bearing account.

In that order, the trial court retained authority over the funds by stating that the funds could be disbursed "pursuant to further Order of th[e] Court."

Moreover, the term "claims" is expressly defined in the Escrow Agreement as only Van Vorgue's claims in the initial Complaint: (1) her claim to cancel the Quit Claim Deed and (2) her claim to recover "her portion of the proceeds from the sale of the property as a co-owner." The Escrow Agreement does not govern any other claims, much less future unidentified claims. Thus, the phrase "pending resolution of **the** claims of the parties" can only refer to the "claims" as defined in the Escrow Agreement, which were the only ones pending at the time. Contrary to Van Vorgue's wishes, the language in the Order Transferring Funds does not say "pending [**final**] resolution of [**all**] claims of the parties.

Thus, the Third District did not "rewrite" language in the Escrow Agreement. It merely construed language in the trial court order expressly allowing such disbursement. Indeed, even a strict interpretation of the Order Transferring Funds entitled Rankin to receive her 50% share of the proceeds. At the time Rankin filed her Motion to Release Escrow Funds, Rankin's entitlement to 50% of the funds was fully "resolved." Van Vorgue concedes that she only claims entitlement to 50% of the escrowed funds based on her alleged joint ownership of the Meridian Property. Thus, she has no legal claim to Rankin's 50% share.

Without a legal claim, Van Vorgue cannot freeze those funds as security for any other damages that may be awarded to her.

Van Vorgue attempts to support her arguments by calling herself a "victim" and Rankin a "wrongdoer," and accuses Rankin of wrongfully delaying this case in an effort to gain sympathy from the Court. Such name calling to show that a party "deserves what she gets" is improper character assassination which has no place in this civil appeal. This approach adds nothing to assist the Court in its deliberations and underscores the weakness of Van Vorgue's legal and factual position.

Rankin is being deprived of the immediate right to possession of her funds and will be unduly prejudiced if the Court does not return her undisputed share of the proceeds. The Court should decline to exercise jurisdiction or, alternatively, affirm the Third District's decision in *Rankin v. Van Vorgue*, 994 So. 2d 463 (Fla. 3d DCA 2008).

ARGUMENT

I. THE THIRD DISTRICT'S DECISION THAT VAN VORGUE CANNOT USE RANKIN'S FUNDS AS A BOND AGAINST FUTURE DAMAGES DOES NOT IMPERMISSIBLY MODIFY THE ESCROW AGREEMENT; IT COMPLIES WITH IT.

The Third District's holding that Van Vorgue cannot freeze Rankin's undisputed share of the Meridian Property sale proceeds to secure future damages sought in the Second Amended Complaint is logically and legally sound. Nowhere in the Initial Brief, nor in any of her pleadings, does Van Vorgue claim any legal entitlement to Rankin's 50% share of the Meridian Property sale proceeds. As a result, there is no a legal basis to preclude Rankin from receiving her rightful share of the sale proceeds. As the Third District correctly held:

To order retention of 100% of the escrowed money until the parties resolve the <u>other</u> claims would be, essentially, an improper injunction. *See Konover Realty Assocs., Ltd. v. Mladen,* 511 So. 2d 705, 706 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987) ("It is entirely settled by a long and unbroken line of Florida cases that in an action at law for money damages, there is simply no judicial authority for . . . any restraint upon the use of a defendant's unrestricted assets prior to the entry of judgment"); *see also Pianeta Miami, Inc. v. Lieberman,* 949 So. 2d 215 (Fla. 3d DCA 2006) (finding that trial court's non-final order denying motion to release funds in escrow was an improper restraint on party's unrestricted use of assets); *Rosasco v. Rosasco,* 641 So. 2d 493 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994) (holding that a movant's assertion of right to a certain amount of money is not sufficient to justify a restraint on those funds).

See Rankin, 994 So. 2d 463, 464 (emphasis added).

¹⁰ Van Vorgue conceded to the Third District that "**Rankin had every right** to refuse to hold the money in escrow at the inception of the dispute. . . ." (R. 134).

Nonetheless, Van Vorgue argues that she is entitled to freeze Rankin's funds as security for damages she seeks in the Second Amended Complaint because Rankin "stipulated" to the entry of the Order Transferring Funds which "required" that 100% of the sale proceeds would be escrowed "pending resolution of the claims of the parties" (Initial Brief at 17-18). According to Van Vorgue, no court can relieve Rankin from this "stipulation" without unconstitutionally modifying that "contract" (Initial Br. at 14, 19-20). She cites myriad cases for the proposition that the United States and Florida Constitutions guarantee a party's right to enter into "private contracts" (Initial Br. at 14, 19-20). The argument is not only factually and legally inaccurate, it makes no sense.

First, the language -- "pending resolution of the claims of the parties" -- comes from the Order Transferring Funds, not the Escrow Agreement. A trial court order is neither a "stipulation" nor a "private contract" incapable of being modified by a judge. Judges have the inherent authority to modify or reconsider prior rulings any time before the entry of final judgment. *See Wasa Intern. Ins. Co. v. Hurtado*, 749 So. 2d 579 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000); *Bettez v. City of Miami*, 510 So. 2d 1242, 1242-43 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987). Of course, none of the cases cited by Van Vorgue (Initial Br. at 19-21) involves the application or interpretation of a trial court order.

Second, both the Order Transferring Funds and the Escrow Agreement do not "require" (Initial Br. at 17) that the funds be held in escrow until resolution of the case. Both documents are consistent in their terms by stating that the Escrow

Agent is "authorized" to hold the funds. The only time the Escrow Agreement required that the funds be frozen was during the initial three-week period when the parties were trying to settle Van Vorgue's claims to 50% of the proceeds. That is why the Order Transferring Funds and the Escrow Agreement specifically "authorize" the Escrow Agent to disburse the funds upon receipt of a court order.

Third, the term "claims" is expressly defined in the Escrow Agreement as only Van Vorgue's claims in the initial Complaint: (1) her claim to cancel the Quit Claim Deed and (2) her claim to recover "her portion of the proceeds from the sale of the property as a co-owner." The Escrow Agreement does not govern any other claims, much less future unidentified claims. Thus, the phrase "pending resolution of **the** claims of the parties" can only refer to the "claims" as defined in the Escrow Agreement, which were the only ones pending at the time. Contrary to Van Vorgue's wishes, the language in the Order Transferring Funds does not say "pending [**final**] resolution of [**all**] claims of the parties."

Van Vorgue argues that because the Order Transferring Funds and the Order granting Van Vorgue leave to file her Amended Complaint were entered on the

¹¹ It is ironic that it is Van Vorgue who seeks to impermissibly modify the Escrow Agreement by expanding its limited definition of "claims" to include all future claims that Van Vorgue may have brought, even wholly unrelated claims, such as claims to joint bank accounts, personal property, and corporate assets.

¹² Indeed, throughout the Initial Brief, Van Vorgue improperly adds the word "final" before the word "resolution" and adds the word "all" before the word "claims" when neither the Escrow Agreement nor the Order Transferring Funds includes those words (Initial Br. at 18, 21, 25).

same day, Rankin must have "intended" that the term "claims" as set forth in the Order Transferring Funds included all the claims raised in the Amended Complaint (Initial Br. at 9). Nowhere in the Order Transferring Funds, or any other document or order, is there any language permitting the modification of "claims" set forth in the Escrow Agreement to include all future claims that may have been asserted by Van Vorgue. Nor is there any record support indicating that Rankin would have agreed to such a modification.

The fact that the trial court performed the ministerial act of entering the Order Transferring Funds does not establish Rankin's intentions to do anything contrary to the express terms of the Escrow Agreement. The argument also completely ignores that Van Vorgue is seeking to freeze Rankin's funds as security for damages under the **Second** Amended Complaint, which was filed 18 months after the trial court entered its Order Transferring Funds.

Regardless, the timing of events does not change the outcome of this case. Even in the Second Amended Complaint, Van Vorgue claims that she is legally entitled to only 50% of the escrowed funds based on (1) an alleged oral agreement to be "equal partners" for life; and (2) her alleged joint tenancy in the Meridian Property (A2. at 13, 15, 16, 17 and 18). She does not claim entitlement to 100% of the sale proceeds. Based on those allegations, and without even reaching the merits of those arguments, Rankin's "claims" to her 50% share of the sale proceeds has been fully "resolved" as provided in the Order Transferring Funds.

For the same reasons, there was no need, as Van Vorgue claims, for Rankin to file a counterclaim for reformation or rescission of the Escrow Agreement in order to obtain her funds (Initial Br. at 22, 29-30). To do so would have made no sense. Rankin is not seeking to rescind the Escrow Agreement, but is seeking an order to enforce it. Neither is Rankin "dissatisfied" with its terms nor regretful of her decision to enter into the Escrow Agreement (Initial Br. at 22). The express purpose of the Escrow Agreement was to facilitate the closing of the Meridian Property – its purpose was never to hold Rankin's undisputed share as a bond for future alleged damages that were not defined in the Escrow Agreement.

The Third District's decision to release Rankin's funds to her is legally and logically sound. There is no basis to preclude Rankin from receiving her rightful share of the sale proceeds. The Third District did not "rewrite" language in the Escrow Agreement; it merely construed and applied language in the Escrow Agreement and Order Transferring Funds that expressly authorized release of the funds by court order.

II. REVIEW WAS IMPROVIDENTLY GRANTED BECAUSE THE THIRD DISTRICT'S DECISION DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH LEHMAN, SLIZYK OR PAFFORD.

The Court should dismiss this appeal for lack of jurisdiction because review was improvidently granted. The alleged basis for jurisdiction was an "express" and "direct" conflict between the Third District decision and *State v. Lehman*, 131 So. 533 (Fla. 1930); *Slizyk v. Smilack*, 825 So. 2d 428 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002); and

Pafford v. Standard Life Ins. Co. of Ind., 52 So. 2d 910 (Fla. 1951). There is clearly no conflict to warrant discretionary review.

To constitute such a conflict, the Third District decision must either (1) announce a rule of law that conflicts with an expression of law from another court; or (2) apply a rule of law to produce a different result in a case involving substantially the same controlling facts as a prior case. *See City of Jacksonville*, 339 So. 2d at 633. The conflict must appear "within the four corners of the decision." *See Reaves v. State*, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986).

With respect to *Lehman*, there is clearly no conflict. The issue in that case, an 80-year-old decision, related to a court's equity powers to impose taxes on a community in order to satisfy a judgment obtained against a governmental entity without it vitiating the legislature's authority to tax its citizens. 131 So. 533. Although the Court discussed the general rights of individuals to contract, the facts and issues in that case are too dissimilar to the controlling facts in this case to warrant any reasonable comparison.

In *Slizyk*, the issue related to an assignment by a first husband, who was in possession of original notes, to a second husband to foreclose a mortgage despite the second husband's inability to produce the original note and mortgage. 825 So. 2d 428. In that case, the court affirmed the lower court's finding of a fraudulent assignment and noted the general proposition that a "court of equity will not assist

¹³ See Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const. (1980); Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv).

in extricating a party from his or her own wrongful and fraudulent conduct." *Id.*Neither the controlling facts nor the issues in *Slizyk* have any relationship to the facts here.

Pafford involved the interpretation of terms in an insurance policy to determine whether a policyholder was participating in "aviation" or "aeronautics" within the exclusion clause of a double indemnity provision in a life insurance policy. 52 So. 2d 910. The district court recited the general proposition that a court cannot rewrite a private contract between parties. First, *Pafford* is distinguishable because it did not involve an escrow agreement, but the determination of whether a particular act was covered under an insurance policy. Second, the Third District did not unlawfully modify a private contract – it correctly interpreted and enforced the terms of the Escrow Agreement and the Order Transferring Funds, both of which "authorized" the Escrow Agent to disburse the funds "pursuant to further Order of th[e] Court" (id.). Van Vorgue's argument that the Escrow Agreement "requires" the escrowed funds to be held "until this lawsuit [pursuant to the Second Amended Complaint] is concluded" (Initial Br. at 9), is specious. As previously discussed, no such language is found in the Escrow Agreement or the Order Transferring Funds, and Rankin never agreed to such an unreasonable term.

Van Vorgue has never shown, in any filing with this Court or the Third District, how either *Lehman*, *Slizyk* or *Pafford* are similar, much less have "substantially the same controlling facts" as this case, a requirement to establish a

genuine conflict. Moreover, nowhere in the Third District's opinion is there any mention, even by implication, that the Third District is rejecting the general rules of law pronounced in any of these cases. *See City of Jacksonville*, 339 So. 2d at 633 (holding that decision must expressly "announce a rule of law" contrary to other decisions to establish a genuine conflict).

Van Vorgue merely disagrees with the Third District's conclusion that the Escrow Agreement's language does not prevent Rankin from seeking the return of her rightful, undisputed share of the funds. Her attempt to obtain additional *de novo* review of that decision in this Court is improper. As the Court aptly held:

The absence of a jurisdictional foundation for our review . . . is not a mere technicality. It is a matter of constitutional significance. In this case, the First District Court of Appeal did a thorough and thoughtful job of analyzing Florida case law in order to apply it to the facts of a particular controversy before it. This is precisely what the framers of Article V and the people of Florida expect district court judges to do.

City of Jacksonville, 339 So. 2d at 634.

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